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TO ALICE,


WHO HAS THE HEART


OF A HAMILTON
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Even if you’ve had the good luck to hold a crisp $10 bill, you’ve probably never studied the portrait on it or thought much about the man it depicts.


HAMILTON, the bill says.


He’s famous now, thanks to a Broadway musical. Before that unlikely thing happened, Alexander Hamilton had become a historical footnote. He even nearly lost his place on the $10 bill. This isn’t all that surprising. During his life and afterward, people misrepresented much of what he did and believed. But his work—often criticized and misunderstood—was genius. The United States simply would not be what it is without his visionary thinking and writing. Indeed, without his courage and wits, the Revolutionary War might not have been won.


Alexander was a warrior: fierce, brave, and more than willing to die for the cause. He was a strategist who, despite his youth, became George Washington’s right-hand man. He was a philosopher who helped the rest of the Founding Fathers figure out what they’d meant with their declaration, and how the Articles of Confederation could be turned into a constitution that would endure. He laid the groundwork for the nation’s economy—which was more controversial and complex than you could imagine. He founded the Coast Guard. The Customs Department. The Bank of the United States.


From the start, his life was complicated—a study in contrasts.


He was born in a place both beautiful and terrible.


He was an orphan and, worse at the time, a bastard, which meant he could not go to school with the rest of the boys.


But he was brilliant. Studious, hardworking, and brave, and people rallied to his side again and again.


He was a loyal friend. He was a forgiving enemy.


He was a fearless soldier. He was an indispensable military bureaucrat.


He doted on his wife and children. He cheated on them.


He wrote sensitive love poetry. He wrote blistering political pamphlets.


He saved a man accused of murder. The man who helped him do it shot him to death.


He was a scapegoat. A scholar.


Respected. Reviled.


A genius. A fool.


A penniless nobody who became one of the world’s most powerful men.


He believed in the rule of law. He lost his life in totally illegal fashion.
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ALEXANDER HAMILTON.


HE WAS COMPLICATED.


THIS IS HIS STORY.
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On the last night of August in 1772, as twilight descended on the island of Saint Croix, Alexander Hamilton thought he was going to die. He was still a boy, and he wanted to become so much more. He wanted to matter to the world. He wanted to be a man of courage and honor. He wanted to love and be loved. Instead, bracing himself against the winds of a hurricane, he waited for the blow that would end it all.


The storm tore homes and buildings off their foundations and sent wooden beams flying. It tossed huge stones a hundred yards and leveled a three-foot-thick wall around the storehouse of the king. And it wasn’t just the wind. There were waves, too, huge ones more than seventy feet above their normal size. They flung ships a hundred yards ashore. Thunder boomed, and lightning lashed the sky, which spattered Alexander with torrents of salty rain. The air itself reeked of gunpowder and sulfur.


When the storm’s eye opened over the island, the wind let up, but in an hour it returned with a vengeance from the southwest. The storm felt otherworldly in its power, as if Death himself had wrapped a cloak around the sun and pounded the planet off its axis with his scythe. All around Alexander, entire families ran screaming through the streets. Earthquakes and tidal waves punished the surrounding islands. No one had seen anything like it.


Alexander expected that he and everything around him would be obliterated at any moment.






[image: image]







ON AUGUST, 31, 1772, A HURRICANE PUMMELED THE WEST INDIES AND CHANGED ALEXANDER’S LIFE.





Even after the storm ended, the suffering did not. Mangled bodies lay all around. Many survivors had grievous injuries. Homes and businesses had gone to wreck, and hungry children clung to the knees of their weeping mothers. There was no food. No shelter. There wasn’t even good water to drink; the storm had made it too salty. Alexander’s heart bled for these women he could not help. But what did he have to offer? He was poor himself. Fixing this was beyond his abilities.


He sought comfort in church a week after the storm, and a man named Hugh Knox stood to give a sermon. Alexander knew Knox well. He’d helped Alexander publish his first poems and had given him access to his library. Now, inside the church, Knox’s words about God soothed and inspired Alexander. On the wings of this divine energy, Alexander picked up his pen and wrote his heart out to his father, describing the destruction and the aftermath, and what these things signified for humanity.


IT BECAME A TURNING POINT IN A LIFE THAT HAD BEEN UNLUCKY FROM THE START.


Even if it wasn’t enough to bring back his father, the letter was the best thing he’d ever written. It became a turning point in a life that had been unlucky from the start.


*


SEVENTEEN YEARS EARLIER, ALEXANDER HAD been born on Nevis, a steeply canted volcanic island not far from Saint Croix. His birth was so unremarkable that no record survived. But it took place on January 11, 1755, in a house on the main street of Charlestown, the island’s capital. The house gave his family a view of the blue-green Caribbean Sea pounding sandy beaches made of pulverized coral and volcanic rock, along with all the commotion of trade in the harbor.
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NAMED “LAND OF BEAUTIFUL WATERS” BY INDIGENOUS INHABITANTS, NEVIS IS A SMALL, VOLCANIC ISLAND WITH SANDY BEACHES MADE OF CORAL AND PULVERIZED LAVA.





NEVIS WAS A HARD PLACE FOR ALEXANDER TO GROW UP.


Nevis was one of the sugar islands of the West Indies, which during Alexander’s time played a major role in the world’s economy. Everybody wanted sugar. Fortunes were made trading it. A lot of people grew to depend on it, and the sugar from Nevis was the sweetest of all, even as it required the work and suffering of vast numbers of enslaved Africans.


Nevis was a hard place for Alexander to grow up. The slave trade was grotesque, brutal, and deadly. Alexander hated it. And while he didn’t have the catastrophic misfortune of being born or forced into slavery, his parents weren’t married to each other. So, his mother was the subject of gossip, he and his brother were called names, and Alexander couldn’t go to the church school, as other children did.


The subject of his birth humiliated him. One man was largely to blame for Alexander’s suffering on this front. Johann Michael Lavien was a merchant who’d come to Saint Croix dressed in silk clothing with gold buttons and dreaming of making a fortune as a sugar plantation owner. He took a liking to Alexander’s mother, Rachel Fawcett, who was on Saint Croix visiting wealthy relatives who lived a mile and a half southwest of the island’s capital, Christiansted.
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ENSLAVED PEOPLE IN THE WEST INDIES MADE FORTUNES FOR SOME PLANTATION OWNERS.





Rachel’s mother, fooled by the glitter, thought Lavien would make a good match for her daughter, Alexander later said. Rachel hadn’t wanted to marry Lavien. She was a teenager: beautiful, brilliant, and in possession of a small fortune she’d inherited from her father.
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ALEXANDER’S PARENTS MET ON SAINT KITTS, AND HE WAS BORN SEVERAL YEARS LATER ON NEVIS.





Their marriage was miserable. Lavien was at least twelve years older, and he’d been nothing more than a fortune hunter. A poor businessman, he ran through Rachel’s money. By 1750, Rachel had left Lavien and their son, Peter. Lavien was furious. She’d left him to the work and expense of raising their son, and she’d moved on with other men.


THEIR MARRIAGE WAS MISERABLE.


To punish her, he turned to the legal system. Danish law said a woman who’d twice committed adultery could be jailed. Rachel, found guilty, was thrown into a 130-square-foot cell with a floor made of brick. It wasn’t the dungeon authorities forced enslaved people into, but it was a dismal spot nonetheless, mostly inhabited by drunks, thieves, and other lowlifes. For months, she lived in that tiny room, surviving on boiled cornmeal mush and fish, with nothing more than a glimpse of the wharf and the eastern end of cobblestoned King Street through the bars on her windows.


Lavien still held out hope that this punishment would force her back into submission. Instead, she fled to the nearby island of Saint Kitts. She supported herself by sewing and hiring out the labor of the enslaved people she’d inherited from her father. It was a drop down from the comfortable spot she’d had as the daughter of a doctor, but she was resourceful and smart, and she managed.


Before long, she paired off with a thirty-two-year-old Scotsman named James Hamilton. His upbringing was the stuff of fairy tales. He’d grown up in a Scottish castle called the Grange, southwest of Glasgow. His father was a laird whose estate was large and beautiful. As the fourth son, though, James wasn’t in any position to inherit. Instead, he had to make his own way in the world.
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ALEXANDER’S SCOTTISH RELATIVES HAD A COAT OF ARMS THAT READ “GREEN AND GROW” IN LATIN.





Unfortunately, he wasn’t all that smart—nor was he a particularly diligent worker. After he failed to distinguish himself in a textile apprenticeship set up by an older brother, he went to Nevis, thinking he could make a fortune in sugar. Returning triumphant from abroad, some of Europe’s upper crust had bought splendid estates of their own. Of course, many people who had hoped to turn sugar into gold were crushed by failure and debt. Some never made it home again.


*


JAMES AND RACHEL FELL IN LOVE IN THE EARLY 1750s, when he worked for a mercantile firm on Saint Kitts. They had two sons together, James Jr. and then Alexander, who was named for his paternal grandfather. Where they could, James and Rachel passed themselves off as a married couple, and for a while, the family lived on Nevis, surrounded by blue water rich with lobster and other delicacies. Alexander and his brother could climb through lush jungles that rose up the steep slopes of the volcano, surrounded by snowy egrets, monkeys, mongooses, and other tropical creatures.
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UNLIKE MOST OF THE FOUNDING FATHERS, ALEXANDER WAS BORN POOR TO PARENTS WHO WEREN’T MARRIED TO EACH OTHER. HE MOVED FROM THIS HOUSE ON NEVIS, PICTURED, TO SAINT CROIX.





It wasn’t quite paradise, though. In many ways, the landscape itself was a reminder that nothing was solid underfoot. The terrain was pimpled with sulfurous, undrinkable hot springs and steaming fumaroles. Earthquakes, tidal waves, and massive storms could strike at random. It could be rough in other ways, too. Pirates and privateers caroused at night in taverns and brothels. And sometimes there were bloody duels, fought by outlaws and would-be aristocrats alike.


THEY WERE FIGHTS FOR HONOR, AND HONOR WAS EVERYTHING.


The smallest insult could put a man in a mood for a deadly challenge. One famous duel happened after the victim called his shooter “an impertinent puppy.” These duels fascinated Alexander. They were fights for honor, and honor was everything.


That was the sort of man Alexander decided to be—one with honor worth defending. He’d also be educated, even if he couldn’t go to a regular school. It didn’t matter if people made fun of him for being a good student, or for being skinny and small. He’d show everyone what he was really made of.


From his mother, he learned fluent French. He also took lessons from Jewish people from Spain and Portugal, starting young enough that he had to stand on the table next to his teacher when he recited the Ten Commandments in Hebrew. He had thirty-four books, a huge collection, which most likely included titles by Machiavelli, Plutarch, and Alexander Pope. From these, he learned political philosophy, history, and the art of writing.


When he was still a teenager, he published his first poems, which were about girls and the glories of heaven, and were inspired by the work of Alexander Pope. Here are two stanzas of “The Soul ascending into Bliss, In humble imitation of Popes Dying Christian to his Soul,” which ran in the Royal Danish American Gazette in 1772.




HARK! HARK! A VOICE FROM YONDER SKY,


METHINKS I HEAR MY SAVIOUR CRY,


COME GENTLE SPIRIT COME AWAY,


COME TO THY LORD WITHOUT DELAY;


FOR THEE THE GATES OF BLISS UNBAR’D


THY CONSTANT VIRTUE TO REWARD.


I COME OH LORD! I MOUNT, I FLY,


ON RAPID WINGS I CLEAVE THE SKY;


STRETCH OUT THINE ARM AND AID MY FLIGHT;


FOR OH! I LONG TO GAIN THAT HEIGHT,


WHERE ALL CELESTIAL BEINGS SING


ETERNAL PRAISES TO THEIR KING.




*


AS MUCH AS HE ENJOYED WRITING ABOUT heaven, he’d seen plenty of its opposite. If you weren’t a rich plantation owner, life in the sugar islands could be brutal, especially for the enslaved people who’d been stolen from their homes, crammed into the bellies of overcrowded ships, and then displayed in marketplaces for buyers to examine as though they were animals or pieces of furniture.
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CONDITIONS FOR ENSLAVED PEOPLE ON SHIPS TRANSPORTING THEM FROM AFRICA WERE BRUTAL.





His own grandfather had been a physician inspecting the human wares at those auctions, and Alexander witnessed the brutality of these markets regularly. Even though he and his brother were masters themselves of a boy named Ajax, Alexander grew up hating slavery. Enslaved Africans worked naked in the fields under a scorching sun, trying to coax cane out of the volcanic slopes. They also worked in boiling-hot sugar factories, where their lives and limbs were constantly at risk. To be enslaved in the sugar islands was essentially a death sentence, and millions of human beings suffered it.


On Nevis, enslaved people outnumbered white people by at least eight to one. On other islands, the ratio was even higher. Alexander and the rest of the white population lived in constant fear of uprisings, and many tried to terrorize enslaved people into submission through brutal punishments for small infractions—and worse for larger acts of resistance.


Alexander crossed paths with enslaved people throughout his childhood. As an older boy, he lived a half block from the Sunday market in Christiansted, where enslaved people came each week, spread their wares beneath trees, and sold a variety of food, candles, scarves, and cloth to each other.


HIS SPOT OF RELATIVE PRIVILEGE OFFERED ONLY SO MUCH PROTECTION.


His spot of relative privilege offered only so much protection. Life was difficult and could turn disastrous at any moment, as it did when Alexander was four. His mother’s estranged husband, Johann Lavien, had continued to founder as a businessman. Moneylenders had seized his plantation, and he was reduced to being the overseer of someone else’s. He had to rent out his enslaved people to get by. But romance had found him, and he was living with a woman who wanted him to marry her. To do this, he’d need a formal divorce from Rachel. This was expensive and hard to get, which is why they’d never pursued one.


Lavien sent a court summons that went to an address on Saint Croix, where Rachel hadn’t lived for nine years. She never received it and wasn’t there to defend herself against the charges.


HE CALLED THEM “WHORE-CHILDREN.”


The court papers were scorching. “She has shown herself to be shameless, rude, and ungodly, as she has completely forgotten her duty and let husband and child alone, and instead given herself up to whoring with everyone, which things the plaintiff says are so well known that her own family and friends must hate her for it.”


Lavien didn’t soften the language for Alexander and his brother James. He called them “whore-children.”


Rachel was found at fault. As part of the divorce decree, Lavien could marry again. It didn’t matter that he was living with another woman himself and was therefore guilty of the same things Rachel was. She was forbidden to remarry. This restriction wasn’t from spite alone; it was also about money. It meant Alexander and James were officially branded as illegitimate, so that when Rachel died, all of the few things their mother had would go to their half brother, Peter—her one legitimate child under the law.
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ALEXANDER SPENT HIS LATER CHILDHOOD IN CHRISTIANSTED, THE CAPITAL OF SAINT CROIX.





James, Rachel, and the boys moved back to Christiansted in May 1765. James had found work, but it was a terrible place for Rachel to live. She was known there as a bigamist and an adulterer. Under the weight of this shame, their long-term relationship collapsed. By July, James and Rachel had separated. In January 1766, Alexander’s father went to Saint Kitts to collect a debt.


HE NEVER CAME BACK.


He never came back. Nor did he send money to support the boys. Alexander charitably figured his father could not afford to support them after his business dealings failed.


Family members helped where they could. Rachel’s sister, Ann Lytton, had a wealthy husband, who pitched in on rent for Rachel and the boys. He even bought the family six walnut chairs with leather seats.


But there was only so much the Lyttons could do. Their son James Jr. had botched a business venture in 1764. Rather than face the consequences, he’d stolen twenty-two enslaved people and the family schooner and escaped to the Carolinas to start over. His devastated parents had sold their large stone house, which was called the Grange, just like James Hamilton’s ancestral home. Gone were the sugar mill, the boiling house that produced molasses and brown sugar, and the quarters for the enslaved people who worked the land. The only thing they kept from the Grange was a small bit of earth that held the bones of their ancestors. The next year, Ann Lytton died.


Alexander, his mother, and his brother moved into a two-story wood-and-stone building on Company Street. The family occupied the top floor; on the lower one, Rachel ran a small grocery that provided supplies to plantations: pork, beef, salted fish, rice, flour, and apples. Alexander, always great at math, kept the books for his mother.


His work impressed her suppliers at a trading company called Beekman and Cruger. Thanks to Alexander, the family managed. They didn’t have much: a half dozen silver spoons, seven silver teaspoons, fourteen porcelain plates, two porcelain bowls, a bed covered with a feather comforter, and the chairs from Uncle James. But, along with Alexander’s treasured books, it was enough.
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THE SAINT CROIX HOME OF ANN AND JAMES LYTTON WAS CALLED THE GRANGE.





In February 1768, though, just after Alexander turned thirteen, Rachel grew violently ill, probably with yellow fever, an often-deadly virus that affects the liver and kidneys and makes the skin and eyes turn yellow from jaundice. After a week, they summoned a doctor, who bled her veins and applied an alcohol compress for her headache, medicine that made her vomit, and provided an herb called valerian that caused terrible gas. Alexander got sick, too. The doctor drained some of Alexander’s blood and forced fluid into his lower bowel through the rectum. For the rest of his life, he suffered kidney ailments.


ALEXANDER AND HIS MOTHER STRUGGLED SIDE BY SIDE IN THE FAMILY’S ONLY BED.


Alexander and his mother struggled side by side in the family’s only bed. He was next to her when she died on the nineteenth of February. And even though it was nine in the evening when she passed away, the financial vultures arrived an hour later, locking away her assets to ensure they would go to her legal heir. They left only a few things unsealed so they could be used to prepare her for burial: the chairs, two tables, and two bowls for washing.
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ALEXANDER’S MOTHER DIED IN 1768; SHE WAS BURIED IN THE FAMILY CEMETERY.





Alexander and his brother were effectively orphans, and so poor that a judge in town gave them money to buy shoes and black veils to wear to their mother’s funeral. She was buried the next day in the family cemetery.


Then came the bills, including ones for the unhelpful medical care. The probate court—the officers of which had swooped in the night of her death—decided to consider three possible heirs to inherit her meager belongings. Two were Alexander and his brother. The third was their half brother, Peter. The process dragged on for a year. The court gave the entire estate—including Alexander’s precious books—to Peter. The paperwork called Alexander and James “obscene children” born into “whoredom.”


In November 1769, Peter Lavien returned to Saint Croix to pick up his things. Even though he was a grown man and a church warden in South Carolina, he left his young half brothers with nothing. He didn’t even want the books. In one small mercy, Alexander’s cousin Peter bought them back at an auction.


Alexander and his brother went to live with Peter Lytton, his girlfriend, and their son. Soon after the boys moved in, their cousin grew distraught about his finances and killed himself in his own bed. His death was bloody and traumatic, and in his will, he left everything to his girlfriend and their boy.


Alexander and his brother, left out again, went to live with their uncle James. And then their uncle James died. His will, which had been updated five days before his death, also left the boys nothing.


By then, James was sixteen and Alexander was fourteen. They’d lost their father. Their mother. Two guardians. They’d been branded as obscene whore-children. And now they were alone in the world, without a home, without money, and without any assurance of a future. It was a devastating series of blows, enough to fill anyone with doubt and despair. But Alexander and his brother persevered, even as their paths in life diverged.


James was apprenticed to a carpenter. For a while, he lived with Alexander in the home of a wealthy merchant named Thomas Stevens, his wife, Ann, and their five children. But he did not have Alexander’s intellectual fire or ambition, and soon the brothers would part ways for good.


One of the Stevens boys—Edward—had meanwhile become Alexander’s closest friend.


THEY WERE BOTH BRILLIANT.


Ned Stevens and Alexander had much in common. They were both brilliant. Both worked hard at their studies. Both spoke fluent French and had an interest in medicine and classical history, and an aversion to slavery. They had something else in common: they looked alike to an astonishing degree. Pale skin, bright blue eyes, reddish hair, slight builds. Many people noticed, and even when the men were grown, some people thought they were brothers by blood and not circumstance.


Alexander found a job as a clerk at Beekman and Cruger—the same trading company that had supplied his mother’s store and admired his talent when he was keeping her books. Beekman and Cruger imported building materials, equipment for plantations, livestock, furniture, food, drink, and other necessities, as well as luxuries like crystal, porcelain, and silver for the island’s upper crust. The company also exported sugar and its derivatives, molasses and rum, as well as hardwoods and cotton.
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NICHOLAS CRUGER, PICTURED HERE IN 1780, SET UP A SCHOLARSHIP FUND FOR ALEXANDER.





Alexander was so good at his job that he temporarily ran the company for a few months in 1771 to cover for his sick boss, Nicholas Cruger, a pale-eyed man with unruly eyebrows and a swoop of short dark hair. Alexander was just sixteen at the time.


The job gave him a front-row seat onto the emerging economy of the day: international trade that pitted countries against one another in a race for power and wealth, and the territorial grabs that enhanced both. This thinking drove wars and revolutions and, over time, thrust Europe and later the American colonies into the beginnings of a modern age. Alexander soaked up vast amounts of knowledge about finance and commerce.


His math skills came in handy when he had to track freight and calculate sums in different currencies: Danish ducats, Dutch stivers, British pounds, Spanish pieces of eight, Portuguese reis. His French also proved useful.


THE WISH WOULD COME TRUE.


He learned the ins and outs of both legal trade and smuggling, what kind and how many guns a ship needed to keep it safe from pirates, and how supply chains kept businesses and communities alive exchanging everything from foodstuffs to building materials to livestock.


He also learned how to take charge of people and situations, even though most of the men he worked with were much older. He once scolded a ship’s captain for not treating a shipment of forty-one mules with sufficient care in 1772. Then he let his boss know all about it. He’d never seen a worse parcel of mules:


“I sent all that were able to walk to pasture, in Number 33. The other 8 could hardly stand for 2 Minutes together & in spite of the greatest care 4 of them are now in Limbo. The Surviving 4 I think are out of Danger, and shall likewise be shortly sent to pasture.”


He paid close attention to minute details. He knew what these signified, and he knew how to proceed in difficult conditions. The world could be a cruel place. He had little control over most things. But where he could influence situations with his sharp mind and tireless hands, he did.
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DATED JANUARY 11, 1773, THIS MINIATURE WATERCOLOR-AND-INK PORTRAIT SHOWS A YOUNG ALEXANDER AS HE FACED HIS FIRST WINTER IN NEW YORK CITY.





As great as he was as a clerk, he hated the job. Tasks like checking flour for worms were demeaning. There was no future in such work, no way for him to truly change the world as he knew he could. When he was fourteen, he wrote Ned—who was studying in New York—a letter fretting about his lot. He wanted to be a great man like the ones he read about in Plutarch, and he was willing to trade his life—but not his character—for the chance.


“I wish there was a War,” he told Ned.


The wish would come true. In the meantime, thanks to the hurricane, he’d impressed more than just his bosses. Hugh Knox, the man who had delivered the inspirational sermon after the storm, thought Alexander’s letter to his father was so stirring that he had it printed anonymously in the Gazette. Alexander’s words read, in part,




It began about dusk, at North, and raged very violently till ten o’clock. Then ensued a sudden and unexpected interval, which lasted about an hour. . . . Good God! what horror and destruction—it’s impossible for me to describe—or you to form any idea of it. It seemed as if a total dissolution of nature was taking place. The roaring of the sea and wind—fiery meteors flying about in the air—the prodigious glare of almost perpetual lightning—the crash of the falling houses—and the ear-piercing shrieks of the distressed, were sufficient to strike astonishment into Angels.




Alexander’s words struck astonishment into his readers. They couldn’t believe the author was only seventeen. Everyone—even the governor—wanted to know who Alexander was. Once people learned who’d written the account of the storm, they wanted to help. Nicholas Cruger set up a scholarship fund that meant Alexander could become a student in New York City.


That fall, Alexander set out on a three-week journey by boat. Bad luck found him once more when the ship that carried him caught fire. Alexander and the rest of the passengers scrambled to scoop buckets of seawater to put out the blaze. It was a desperate situation. If they failed, the ship would sink, and they would die. But they managed to quench the flames. The damaged ship made it to Boston, and from there, Alexander traveled to New York.


ALEXANDER’S WORDS STRUCK ASTONISHMENT INTO HIS READERS.


When he stepped off the dock and into an entirely new world, he knew only one person in town: Ned Stevens. That was about to change. Even more, Alexander was about to change New York—and the world beyond.


*
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New York City in 1772 was nothing like Alexander’s childhood home. Even though Saint Croix was a busy port and a crossroads of international trade, it had less than half the population of New York, which was the second-largest city in the colonies, after Philadelphia. Twenty-five thousand people lived there, and they spoke at least fourteen languages among them.
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ARTIST THOMAS HOWDELL OF THE ROYAL ARTILLERY CAPTURED THIS SOUTHEAST VIEW OF NEW YORK CITY, LATER ENGRAVED BY P. CANOT.





The city had tall buildings of painted brick, streets filled with the clopping of horses pulling elegant carriages, and churches with spires that reached for the heavens. Alexander had never seen such grandness. A tree-lined Broadway was the main thoroughfare through town, and most development was concentrated on the south end of the island, where the wharves were.
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NEW YORK HARBOR CIRCA 1770.





Cruger’s Wharf was built in 1740, with thirty-foot timbers sunk deep into the bed of the Hudson River. It jutted southwest and ran parallel to Water Street. Ships moored there unloaded imports and loaded exports, working at such an intense clip that often leather shoes and glass bottles and bits of pottery fell overboard and sank into the black fill below. Here Alexander picked up his scholarship money, in the waterfront offices of Kortright and Company. The money came from profits made shipping molasses and rum from Saint Croix.


At his old home, he hadn’t always owned or needed shoes, let alone a heavy coat. In New York, an epic winter was on its way. It was so cold that year that the East River froze. But Alexander found his place immediately, helped by letters of introduction written by Hugh Knox, whose endorsement opened all the right doors.


Alexander charmed everyone. It didn’t matter in the colonies that his parents hadn’t been married. He was worldly, his studies had paid off, and he impressed people with his intelligence. Even though he never liked to think of himself as handsome, other people couldn’t help but notice his dashing looks. A friend said Alexander’s eyes were “a deep azure, eminently beautiful, without the slightest trace of hardness or severity, and beamed with higher expressions of intelligence and discernment than any others that I ever saw.” He did strike people as being diminutive because he was so slim—but at five foot seven, he was only an inch shorter than the average American man, and two inches taller than the average Englishman. Carrying himself with confidence, Alexander swiftly began to climb the social ladder.


IN NEW YORK, AN EPIC WINTER WAS ON ITS WAY.


Not long after he arrived in the city, he met an Irish tailor named Hercules Mulligan. Older than Alexander, Hercules was the younger brother of a Kortright and Company employee, and knew what it was like to be an immigrant. He was only a boy when he came over from Ireland, but he’d come with family, and Alexander was alone. Hercules took Alexander under his wing and even housed him for part of the time he was in college.


Completing his education was Alexander’s first order of business. He’d done well patching together his own schooling in the West Indies. But there were holes to fill before he was ready for college. He felt so behind. Other boys his age had already graduated from college, and he couldn’t even get in until he’d brushed up on his Latin, Greek, and math.


COMPLETING HIS EDUCATION WAS ALEXANDER’S FIRST ORDER OF BUSINESS.


From the winter of 1772 through the spring of 1773, he plunged into these subjects at the Academy of Elizabethtown in New Jersey, learning enough that he could translate Greek Bible verses into Latin or English. He studied intensely at the school, which was run by the nearby First Presbyterian Church, and would slip out of bed at dawn and stroll through the churchyard cemetery as he ran through his lessons out loud. Then he would go to classes in a two-story brick building across the yard from the church. After school, he’d study past midnight.
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WILLIAM LIVINGSTON, ONE OF ALEXANDER’S FIRST FRIENDS IN AMERICA, WAS A POET AND POLITICAL FIREBRAND.





He found the time to write poetry for fun and even penned the prologue and epilogue of a play performed to entertain British soldiers. His socializing turned out to be as important as his academic classes. Through Knox he met men like William Livingston and Elias Boudinot. They were wealthy and worldly, and they ushered Alexander into the political and power hubs of the day. One person he may have met was a fellow orphan named Aaron Burr, who’d graduated from the College of New Jersey when he was only sixteen. (The College of New Jersey became Princeton University in 1896.)
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ELIAS BOUDINOT WAS A DEAR FRIEND OF ALEXANDER’S. THE BOUDINOTS LOST A BABY WHEN ALEXANDER WAS A COLLEGE STUDENT; HE WROTE A POEM ABOUT THE LOSS.





The company Alexander kept tended to be ardent republicans, people who wanted independence from England. Some of them were mouthy. A poet and political firebrand nicknamed “the Whipping Post,” Livingston loved ridiculing the king. He once wrote a letter telling his son that if a ghost of the ruling family ever visited, he should show him the door without so much as offering it a pipe of tobacco to smoke.


Boudinot was an attorney so well connected that he later became president of the Continental Congress. Alexander relished spending time at the Boudinot mansion, Boxwood Hall. It was full of books and lively debate—the sort of refined culture Alexander craved. He became so close to the family that he kept a vigil by their sick baby in September 1774, when he was in college. He even wrote a poem after the child died, which began




FOR THE SWEET BABE, MY DOATING HEART


DID ALL A MOTHER’S FONDNESS FEEL;


CAREFULL TO ACT EACH TENDER PART


AND GUARD FROM EVERY THREATNING ILL.


BUT WHAT ALASS! AVAILD MY CARE?


THE UNRELENTING HAND OF DEATH,


REGARDLESS OF A PARENT’S PRAYR


HAS STOPED MY LOVELY INFANT’S BREATH.
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THE COLLEGE OF NEW JERSEY, LATER KNOWN AS PRINCETON. DENIED ALEXANDER ENROLLMENT.





In six months Alexander finished prep school. His first choice for university was the College of New Jersey, a hotbed of revolutionary sentiment. Hugh Knox had gone there. Livingston and Boudinot were both on the board of trustees. What’s more, the college was recruiting students from the West Indies. With these connections and his intellectual chops, Alexander felt confident enough to ask John Witherspoon, the Scottish-born theologian in charge, if he could speed his way toward a degree. The faster he could get through school, the faster he could build a life.


IT WAS A BLOW, BUT ALEXANDER HAD WEATHERED WORSE.


Witherspoon proposed the idea to the board—and Alexander was rejected by the trustees, who apparently said the plan was contrary to the usage of the college. Witherspoon hated saying no to Alexander, but his hands were tied. Another student who’d taken a fast track, James Madison, damaged his health by pushing himself too hard. He needed a year after graduation to recover.
 his bags and traveling to the College of New Jersey in late 1773, Alexander began his studies at New York City’s

It was a blow, but Alexander had weathered worse. Instead of packing King’s College, which was run by loyalists to the Crown. The urban campus overlooked a meadow and the Hudson River, which flowed alongside the western edge of Manhattan.
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ALEXANDER STUDIED HARD AND STAYED OUT OF TROUBLE AT KING’S COLLEGE.





Built on land owned by Trinity Church, King’s College offered classes in a three-story building topped with a cupola. Deciduous trees cast shade on the steps leading up to the classrooms. A fence wrapped around the campus, and students were required to be safely locked in after curfew, which was 10:00 p.m. during the summer and 9:00 p.m. during the winter.


The gate was meant to keep the young men out of trouble. Brothels surrounded the campus, and a high percentage of the city’s population—about five hundred women—were prostitutes. Alexander’s handbook offered a stern warning about consorting with them: “None of the Pupils shall frequent houses of ill Fame or keep Company with any persons of known scandalous behaviour.”


Alexander managed to avoid landing in the dean’s black book of students who’d broken the rules. Bent on making his way in the world, he threw himself into his academic work: philosophy, law, and medicine. Maybe, he thought, he’d become a doctor like his friend Ned Stevens.


As a private student working at his own swift pace, Alexander took some of his lessons from the college president, Myles Cooper, a published poet, an elegant scholar, and an ardent loyalist. His students took courses in natural law, physics, logic, ethics, metaphysics, math, philosophy, astronomy, geography, history, rhetoric, and ancient and modern languages.


ALEXANDER WASN’T EAGER FOR WAR—FAR FROM IT.


Alexander kept up his habit of rising early for a long ramble while he practiced his lessons aloud. Days were tightly scheduled. After his 6:00 a.m. walk, he’d attend chapel and eat breakfast. Dressed in his scholar’s cap and gown, he’d work most of the day and after dinner follow the bells to evening prayer. Free time followed, and Alexander often spent his at the Mulligans’ house with Hercules.


For fun, Alexander formed a weekly debate club with Ned Stevens and his new friends Robert Troup and Samuel and Henry Nicoll. He tested swiftly written political essays on them, and he sharpened his increasingly revolutionary arguments against Cooper. He also visited the Common, a park a block from school where radicals gathered. Alexander wasn’t eager for war—far from it. But the idea of liberty and the natural human right to it entranced him.


The meaning of liberty hadn’t always been such a flash point. In the middle of the 1700s, an English writer would expect his readers to view “liberty” as a birthright conferred to him as a subject of the Crown. This changed when the British started issuing certain taxes on the colonists. The taxes themselves weren’t for unreasonable things, or for things that didn’t benefit the colonies. The British empire needed to pay off the debt incurred fighting the French and Indian War, after all. Instead, the debates Alexander heard centered on how the English government chose to impose those taxes.
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THIS POLITICAL CARTOON MOCKS THE BRITISH BY DEPICTING A FUNERAL PARADE FOR THE STAMP ACT, REPEALED IN 1766.





Colonists hated the Stamp Act, which Parliament passed in March 1765. It meant colonists would have to pay a small tax on every single printed page they produced, including legal documents, licenses, newspapers, ship’s manifests—even playing cards. The revenue would fund the ten thousand troops stationed on the Appalachian frontier, a swath of land long cultivated, fished, and hunted by indigenous tribal nations but coveted by colonists and European empire-builders.


The colonists objected to the idea that England would be able to demand tax revenue without first getting approval from colonial legislatures. They feared the Crown would demand more money later. The act was repealed in 1766, but the outrage remained, especially when Parliament issued the Declaratory Act, which essentially said it could pass any colonial legislation it chose.
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THE SONS OF LIBERTY CALLED A MEETING IN LATE 1765 TO HEAR THE PUBLIC RESIGNATION OF A STAMP DISTRIBUTOR.





Outraged by this act, many colonists, including Hercules Mulligan, formed a paramilitary political organization called the Sons of Liberty. Mostly members of the upper and middle classes—some of whom served as colonial legislators—they met secretly in Boston and New York to discuss their grievances. They adopted a flag with five vertical red and four white stripes, and the blunt motto “No taxation without representation.” They also recruited “wharf rats” and other lowlifes to take part in their protests.


Their complaints extended beyond taxation. Increasingly, they saw King George and his predecessors as abusive manipulators. Some patriots thought the Crown had forced slavery on unwitting colonists, saddling them with the institution, and they thought the king not only failed to protect the frontier borders but sometimes worked with Indian tribes to threaten the colonists when it suited his aims.


IT WAS AN EXPENSIVE PUNISHMENT FOR THE TEA COMPANY.


The Sons of Liberty performed their most notorious act on December 16, 1773. Under the light of a watchful moon, more than a hundred colonists, some dressed as Mohawk Indians to underscore their allegiance to their adopted homeland over the Crown, boarded three ships in the Boston Harbor. They seized 342 chests of British tea worth 9,659 pounds, smashed them open, and dumped the goods into the water as some two thousand people watched from the docks. It was an expensive punishment for the tea company, which was already suffering financially after a colonial boycott of their wares.


The results were explosive.


Alexander was deep in his studies when a silversmith and engraver named Paul Revere galloped to New York four days later with the stunning news from Boston. Despite the love that many New Yorkers had for England, the news sparked a furor among Alexander and his friends. How should New York respond? Should they boycott English wares? Or would this eventually be self-defeating because they needed English-made cloth and other items? One of Alexander’s first political pieces, which supported the tea protest, made the case for a boycott, as painful as it would be.
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PAUL REVERE WAS PART OF A WARNING SYSTEM OF RIDERS WHO ALERTED PATRIOTS TO THE ARRIVAL OF BRITISH REGULARS ON THE EVENING OF APRIL 18–19, 1775.





Until then, the thirteen colonies had acted like separate countries. Now they were asking many of the same questions. Their mutual concern about the English motherland led them to band together in 1774 and form the Continental Congress. Representatives from each colony—including Alexander’s friend William Livingston—met to respond to the Coercive Acts, also known as the Intolerable Acts, a series of measures taken by the British government in retaliation for the Boston Tea Party.


The acts were harsh, but they weren’t as bad as they could have been. One member of Parliament called Boston a “nest of locusts” that should be destroyed. Instead, Parliament closed Boston’s port until reparations were paid for the ruined tea. It revoked the Massachusetts Bay charter of 1691, centralizing the authority with the Crown in the Massachusetts Bay Colony. It also permitted British troops to stay in unused buildings, prevented unauthorized town meetings, and tilted the scales of justice in favor of British officials by letting them be tried for capital offenses in England or other colonies.


Alexander and the Sons of Liberty gathered at the base of the liberty pole in the Common on July 6, 1774, to protest the acts. The British had long hated this pole and what it symbolized. Soldiers had burned and cut it down repeatedly until the colonists sunk a new one twelve feet into the ground and wrapped it in iron bands to keep it standing.


That day in the Common, standing in the shadow of the symbol of liberty, Alexander was just nineteen, and young looking at that. Dressed in a waistcoat, frock, breeches, and cravat, and with his hair pulled back and powdered in the style of the day, he gathered his courage and slipped through the crowd. Inspired by the moment, he decided there was something he needed desperately to say.


Nervous, he cleared his throat and began. What if he faltered? What if he failed to stir the crowd? It turned out he need not have worried.


Not even for a moment.


His words, once more, were about to change the course of his life.


*
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After a hesitant start, Alexander found his voice. He condemned the British for closing Boston’s port after the tea protest. He urged his fellow colonists to protest the unjust taxes. He called for a boycott of British goods, something that would make the colonists suffer, but would cause even more pain to the British.


His ideas and his energetic delivery lit up the crowd. No one could believe someone so young could be so persuasive, so passionate, so informed.


A murmur rose: “It is a collegian! It is a collegian!”


His time as a student was coming to an end, and his career as a revolutionary was beginning. He would bridge the transition from student to soldier with words, taking on the loyalists’ own Westchester Farmer in a series of fiery essays.


The Farmer was the Reverend Samuel Seabury, a well-known loyalist who took vicious aim at the Continental Congress in anonymous pamphlets. The Farmer riled the patriots so much that they dunked copies in tar and feathers and tacked them to whipping posts. Perhaps because Seabury was a friend of Myles Cooper, the president of Alexander’s college, and perhaps because he did not yet think of himself as a full-fledged American, Alexander wrote anonymously as “A Friend to America.”
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THE RIGHT REVEREND SAMUEL SEABURY CALLED ALEXANDER AND OTHER PATRIOTS “SCORPIONS.”





A month after the first Farmer pamphlet appeared, he responded with a powerhouse thirty-five-page pamphlet. He wrote stirringly about freedom and slavery, and the God-given, natural right the colonists had to liberty. He’d seen firsthand how enslaved people suffered. He’d seen how courts could abuse the powerless. This would not stand.


“The only distinction between freedom and slavery consists in this: In the former state, a man is governed by the laws to which he has given his consent. . . . In the latter, he is governed by the will of another. . . . No man in his senses can hesitate in choosing to be free, rather than a slave.”


The Farmer didn’t intimidate Alexander. When Seabury called the patriots “scorpions” who would “sting us to death,” Alexander fired back, intimating Seabury’s critical abilities were so lousy that he preferred the man’s disapproval to his applause.
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ALEXANDER TOOK ON SEABURY IN THIS ANONYMOUS PAMPHLET, PUBLISHED IN 1774.





Even so, Alexander wasn’t yet arguing for revolution. He wanted Parliament to stop imposing taxes without the colonists’ consent. One argument justifying this was that Parliament and the Crown were separate entities. The colonists could be subjects of the king but not subject to Parliament’s laws. Impressed readers wondered who this Friend to America was. There were rumors that the author was Alexander, but people didn’t believe someone so young could know so much about politics, language, and human nature.


Bloodshed could not be averted by words, though. Blood had already fallen in 1770 at a massacre in Boston, where British soldiers killed five men, including Crispus Attucks, the son of enslaved people—one African and one Wampanoag Indian. More was shed on April 19, 1775, when British soldiers quartered in Boston headed to Lexington to seize patriot leaders Samuel Adams and John Hancock, along with weapons and ammunition the colonists had stockpiled in Concord.
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NEWS OF THE 1775 BOSTON MASSACRE REACHED NEW YORK CITY FOUR DAYS LATER. ALEXANDER AND HIS CLASSMATES TOOK UP ARMS.





Colonial minutemen—volunteers willing to serve on short notice—had been tipped off. Someone opened fire in Lexington, and eight colonists died when the British blasted back. Two more were slain in Concord, but as the British retreated, the tables turned. Patriots fired from hiding spots along the way, killing or wounding 273, far more than the ninety-five casualties on the colonists’ side.


FOUR DAYS LATER, NEWS OF THE VIOLENCE REACHED NEW YORK CITY.


Four days later, news of the violence reached New York City. The Sons of Liberty leapt into action. They seized supplies on British ships headed to Boston, as well as a cache of weapons held at City Hall—more than a thousand muskets, bayonets, and boxes of ammunition. These were used to arm outraged New Yorkers, including Alexander and his classmates.


Alexander immediately went to work practicing military drills. Every day, he and his classmates put on caps that read LIBERTY OR DEATH, along with short, close-fitting green military jackets. They marched through the churchyard of St. George’s Chapel, practicing under the sharp eye of a former member of a British regiment.


Alexander drilled like a man possessed. Guns. Explosives. Maneuvers. Order. As relentlessly as he’d studied academics, he mastered the art of war, and not just the maneuvers, but the mindset.


And it was just in time. The patriots’ rage in New York was percolating into violence.


On April 24, eight thousand furious men gathered outside City Hall. The next day, an anonymous handbill blamed five Tories, including Hamilton’s professor Myles Cooper, for the deaths of the patriots in Massachusetts. On May 10, after a protest, a drunk and angry mob stormed King’s College. The rabble knocked down the college gate and rushed the steps to Cooper’s apartment. As the mob approached, Alexander stood his ground and launched into a speech, arguing that harming Cooper would sully the cause of liberty. In doing so, he bought his professor time to escape.


Even though he disagreed with Cooper politically, Alexander was more than willing to stand as a human shield when it was the right thing to do. He could have been beaten to death. He could have lost his stature as the young voice of the Revolution. But none of that mattered to him as much as human decency.


The two men never saw each other again. But Alexander, filled with courage and scenting war on the horizon, had set an important standard for himself. His life mattered less than his principles. He was above the witless rage of a mob. He was a man of honor.


*
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AMERICAN TROOPS WERE INITIALLY OUTMATCHED BY THE BRITISH, THOUGH THEY TOOK POSSESSION OF BREED’S HILL ON JUNE 16, 1775.





THE SECOND CONTINENTAL CONGRESS APPOINTED George Washington on June 15, 1775, to lead the Continental Army. The challenge of this loomed large. The colonists were in no way ready. Alexander’s friend Elias Boudinot was with Washington when the general learned they had enough gunpowder for only eight rounds a man, and they had fourteen miles of line to guard. Washington, never much of a talker, could not speak for thirty minutes.
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